IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01932

REBECCA LADNER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

MICHAEL HOLLEMAN

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. A2401-08-00185

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

WILLIAM ALEX BRADY, II MSB # BRADY LAW FIRM, PLLC 520 E. Railroad Street, Suite B Long Beach, Mississippi 39560 Telephone: (228) 575-4474 Facsimile: (228) 575-4472

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01932

REBECCA LADNER

APPELLANT

VERSUS

MICHAEL HOLLEMAN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The Appellant, Rebecca Ladner, presents the following issues for the Court's consideration:

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in granting Holleman's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, which dismissed with prejudice all claims arising out of Ladner's fall in Holleman's home, as well as all claims for damages arising therefrom.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in finding that no genuine issue of material fact existed on the aforesaid issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

Appellant Rebecca Ladner (hereinafter "Ladner") filed her Complaint in this matter in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District, on or about June 9, 2008, alleging negligence against the Defendant. (R. at 11-15) ¹; (R.E. at 1-5) ². Appellee Michael Holleman (hereinafter "Holleman") filed his Answer to Ladner's Complaint on October 23, 2008. (R. at 16-21); (R.E. at 6-11). This appeal stems from Holleman's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Memorandum Brief in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, filed on or about April 9, 2010. (R. at 22-80); (R.E. at 12-70). Ladner thereafter filed Plaintiff's Response, With Incorporated Memorandum of Authorities, in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, on or about May 28, 2010. (R. at 81-125); (R.E. at 71-115). Holleman filed Defendant's Rebuttal in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on or about July 16, 2010. (R. at 126-231); (R.E. at 116-25) ³.

After a hearing before the Honorable Judge John C. Gargiulo on September 30, 2010, the Court issued a Rule 54(b) Final Judgment granting Holleman's motion, thereby dismissing specific claims from Ladner's lawsuit. (R. at 232); (R.E. at 126). Thus, Ladner appealed said Rule 54(b) Final Judgment to the Supreme Court of Mississippi, and timely filed her Notice of Appeal in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District, on or about November 19, 2010. (R. at 233-35); (R.E. at 127-29).

¹ "R." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Ladner to cite to the page number of the Record prepared by the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, First Judicial District.

² "R.E." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Ladner to cite to Appellant's Record Excerpts, which are submitted herewith pursuant to M.R.A.P. 30.

³ Exhibits to Defendant's Rebuttal in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment are not included in Appellant's Record Excerpts submitted herewith.

Statement of the Facts

On or about June 12, 2005, Ladner visited the home of Holleman for the purpose of riding bicycles along the boardwalk of Highway 90. (R. at 11-12, 81); (R.E. at 1-2, 71). Holleman owned the bicycle he provided to Ladner for the bicycle ride. *Id.* At said time and place, Ladner was unaware that the bicycle provided by Holleman had a steering malfunction, which caused her to fall to the side of the bicycle during the ride. (R. at 12, 81-82); (R.E. at 2, 71-72). As a result of the fall from the bicycle provided by Holleman, Ladner experienced minor abrasions to her left shoulder, left elbow, and knee; however, the abrasions Ladner received were not severe and did not prevent her from completing the remaining 11 and a half miles of the approximate 12-mile bicycle ride. (R. at 12, 82, 513); (R.E. at 2, 72, 138). In fact, in Ladner's deposition, when asked how she felt after she fell from Holleman's bicycle during the bicycle ride, she testified that she felt fine and that the bleeding had stopped. (R. at 513); (R.E. at 138).

Upon returning to Holleman's residence, Ladner went inside Holleman's home to the kitchen to get her Diet Coke and prepare to go home. (R. at 514); (R.E. at 139). While standing in Holleman's kitchen, Holleman entered the kitchen and began rendering aid by unilaterally and unexpectedly applying Neosporin with a pain ingredient to Ladner's elbow while she was drinking her Diet Coke. (R. at 12, 82, 515); (R.E. at 2, 72, 140). Ladner was startled by Holleman's sudden and unauthorized undertaking of applying an unknown salve to her wound, therefore, she asked Holleman what he was doing and he responded that he was putting Neosporin on her cut. (R. at 515); (R.E. at 140). As Ladner put down her Diet Coke, Holleman continued to attempt to apply Neosporin to Ladner's knee. (R. at 516); (R.E. at 141). Immediately following Holleman's application of the Neosporin, Ladner suffered a severe allergic reaction to the pain ingredient contained in the ointment, felt tingling and swelling in her lips (R. at 82, 517); (R.E. at 72, 142) and began to feel her throat closing, in that she could not swallow (R. at 519-20); (R.E. at 144-45).

Further, Ladner's breathing became labored and shallow. (R. at 520); (R.E. at 145). At that point, Ladner told Holleman that she could not breathe and Holleman suggested that she lie down on the couch. (R. at 521); (R.E. at 146). Ladner requested an ambulance and stated that she needed to go to the hospital, but Holleman refused Ladner's request and instead insisted that she lie down on the couch. (R. at 521-22); (R.E. at 146-47). In a state of anaphylactic shock, Ladner instead lay down on the floor, unable to move and struggling to breathe, and Holleman left to go to the store. (R. at 522-23); (R.E. at 147-48). Upon returning from the store, Holleman raised Ladner's head from the floor, placed a Benadryl pill in her mouth and gave her water. (R. at 526, 528); (R.E. at 150, 151). After lying on the floor for approximately two hours, Ladner attempted to stand when Holleman called for her from the bathroom; however, due to the profound allergic reaction she experienced, she was unable to stand on her own, which caused her to fall. (R. at 12, 82); (R.E. at 2, 72). When Ladner fell, she struck her head on the floor, which was raw concrete, and lost consciousness. (R. at 12, 82, 534, 537); (R.E. at 2, 72, 154, 157). In fact, Holleman acknowledged and testified under oath that Ladner fell inside his home in his deposition:

- Q. Okay. I think your testimony was you went into the bathroom; you're warming up the water; you called to her to come to the bathroom.
- A. Well, I said, Rebecca, can you come in here? And then within a few seconds, I heard something, and I went to the door of my bedroom to look out, and she was laying on the floor - on her back.

[omitted lines]

A. No. I heard something, and at the time I thought it was something that hit the outside wall of the bathroom. The wall in that - - the other side of my bathroom wall would be the living room that she was in, but I don't know that's what it was. I heard something.

[omitted lines]

Q. Okay. What did you do after you realized she had fallen?

A. I helped her up and helped her to the bed in my bedroom, and I felt her head. She told me that she got up and fell.

[omitted lines]

Q. Okay. You may have touched on this ... [w]hen you went to her as she lay on her back, did she tell you or was there a discussion of what had just happened?

[omitted lines]

A. Yeah, I asked her. I said, what happened? She said, I got up, and I fell . . . and it was apparent that that's what happened because she was three or four feet from where she had been laying when I last saw her where she had been sitting.

(R. at 289-91); (R.E. at 133-35).

Upon regaining consciousness after Ladner fell and struck her head, she struggled to focus her eyes and saw Holleman standing above her, whereupon Ladner again asked Holleman for an ambulance, to no avail. (R. at 537); (R.E. at 157). Holleman refused Ladner's request and instead led her to his bed. (R. at 541); (R.E. at 159). While lying in Holleman's bed, Ladner again asked for an ambulance for the third time, but Holleman refused. (R. at 545); (R.E. at 162). Ladner was ultimately able to gather strength to leave Holleman's residence; however, notwithstanding significant medical treatment as a result of the fall inside Holleman's home, Ladner has suffered permanent loss of her senses of smell and taste. (R. at 12, 82, 573); (R.E. at 2, 72, 163).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Holleman voluntarily rendered aid to Ladner and failed to exercise reasonable care, leaving her in a worse position than when he took charge of her. The law and deposition testimony *infra* confirm that Holleman voluntarily took it upon himself to care for Ladner's injuries; however, he failed to use reasonable care, which caused Ladner's condition to worsen. A reasonable person under the same or similar circumstances would have called an ambulance, as repeatedly requested by Ladner. Once Holleman began rendering aid to Ladner, he had a duty to act with reasonable care. Holleman breached this duty. Furthermore, Ladner's injuries were foreseeable. Ladner's fall resulting in a head injury was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of Holleman's failure to act with reasonable care in providing assistance after her severe allergic reaction and resulting fall.

The Circuit Court erred in granting Holleman's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, which dismissed with prejudice all claims arising out of Ladner's fall in Holleman's home, as well as all claims for damages arising therefrom. Holleman's argument that Ladner was a licensee is irrelevant and immaterial. The lower court's application of the facts to the legal theory of premises liability, concluding that Ladner was a licensee, and wholly ignoring the Good Samaritan Statute, is flawed and erroneous.

ARGUMENT

I. Holleman voluntarily rendered aid to Rebecca Ladner and failed to exercise reasonable care, leaving her in a worse position than when he took charge of her.

In Cowan v. Miss. Bureau of Narcotics, 2 So.3d 759 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009), the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated the following regarding standard of review: "This Court employs a de novo standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of a summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it-admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc." Id. at 763 (quoting McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So.2d 1173, 1176-77 (Miss. 2002)). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that it "reviews orders granting summary judgment de novo, without deference to the trial court." Palmer v. Biloxi Reg'l Med. Ctr., Inc., 649 So.2d 179, 181 (Miss. 1994) (citing W.B. Crain v. Cleveland Lodge 1532, Order of Moose, Inc., 641 So.2d 1186 (Miss. 1994); Davis v. Davis, 558 So.2d 814 (Miss. 1990); Huff v. Hobgood, 549 So.2d 951 (Miss. 1989); Short v. Columbus Rubber and Gasket Co., 535 So.2d 61 (Miss. 1988); Pearl River County Bd. of Supervisors v. Southeast Collections Agency, Inc., 459 So.2d 783 (Miss. 1984)).

As stated herein above, the Court issued a Rule 54(b) Final Judgment granting Holleman's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, thereby dismissing specific claims from Ladner's lawsuit. (R. at 232); (R.E. at 126). Ladner submits to the Court that said judgment is erroneous.

In support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Holleman relies, in part, on Miss. Code Ann. § 73-25-37, Mississippi's Good Samaritan Statute, which states the following:

No duly licensed, practicing physician, physician assistant, dentist, registered nurse, licensed practical nurse, certified registered emergency medical technician, or any other person who, in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable care, renders emergency care to any injured person at the scene of an emergency, or in transporting the injured person to a point where medical assistance can be reasonably expected, shall be liable for any civil damages to the injured person as a result of any acts committed in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable care or omissions in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable care by such persons in rendering the emergency care to the injured person.

Miss. Code Ann. § 73-25-37 (emphasis added).

Mississippi law dictates that one who voluntarily assumes the care of an injured person is charged with the duty of common or ordinary humanity to provide proper care and attention. *Dyche v. Vicksburg, S. & P. R. Co.*, 79 Miss. 361, 30 So. 711, 712 (Miss. 1901). *See also New Orleans & N. E. R. Co. v. Humphreys*, 107 Miss. 396, 65 So. 497 (Miss. 1914). In *Dyche*, the Plaintiff brought a wrongful death suit on behalf of his father who was run over by several railroad cars owned by the Defendant. *Id.* at 711-12. Although the Mississippi Supreme Court held that the Defendant was not liable for the original injury of the decedent, it was error to give a peremptory instruction for the defendant, where "the jury should have been permitted to pass on the acts of the company...[a]ssuming the charge of Dyche as it did, it was charged with the duty of common humanity, and the jury should have been allowed to pass upon whether or not it performed this duty." *Id.*

In *Long v. Patterson*, the Mississippi Supreme Court cites to the Restatement of Torts to address the question of whether a duty exists to warn another of an approaching or impending danger, and states, "the actor's realization that action on his part is necessary for another's aid or protection does not of itself impose upon him a duty to take such action." *Long v. Patterson*, 198 Miss. 554, 561, 22 So.2d 490, 492 (Miss. 1945) (*quoting* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 314 (1965)). However, the *Long* Court further stated, "[b]ut the rule is otherwise where the actor undertakes to render such service, although gratuitously, and the other person reasonably relies on the performance of the undertaking." *Id.* (*citing* Restatement (Second) of Torts § 325 (1965) (current version at Restatement (Second) of Torts § 323)).

The Court of Appeal of Louisiana has held that a legal obligation exists on the part of one undertaking to care for another. *David v. Southern Farm Bureau Casualty Ins.*, 122 So.2d 691, 693

(La. Ct. App. 1960). The *David* Court further relies upon 65 C.J.S. *Negligence* § 58, and states the following:

One who undertakes to care for an ill or injured person is bound to use reasonable or ordinary care.

. . . .

Although the contrary view has been asserted, the more generally accepted rule is that on who voluntarily undertakes to care for, or to afford relief or assistance to an ill, injured, or helpless person is under a legal obligation to use reasonable care and prudence in what he does. In such case the measure of the duty assumed is to exercise ordinary or common humanity, or to exercise with reasonable care such competence and skill as he possesses, or to exercise such care in the treatment of the injured person as the circumstances will allow; and the person who undertakes the care is liable if the existing injuries are aggravated or other injuries are caused by lack of this measure of care.

. *Id.* (quoting 65 C.J.S. Negligence § 58, p. 551).

Furthermore, the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 324, states the following, as set forth in *David*:

One who, being under no duty to do so, takes charge of another who is helpless adequately to aid or protect himself is subject to liability to the other for bodily harm caused to him by aid, (a) the failure of the actor to exercise reasonable care to secure the safety of the other while within the actor's charge; (b) the actor's discontinuing his aid or protection, if by so doing he leaves the other in a worse position than when the actor took charge of him.

Id. at 694. See also Gates v. Chesapeake and O. Ry. Co., 185 Ky. 24, 213 S.W. 564 (1919); Lacey v. United States (D.C.Mass.) 98 F.Supp. 219; Malloy v. Fong, 37 Cal.2d 356, 232 P.2d 241; McDonough v. Buckeye, S.S. Co. (D.C.Ohio) 103 F.Supp. 473; Murphy v. Wabash R. Co., 228 Mo. 56, 128 S.W. 481; Prosser, Torts (1941) p. 197; Slater v. Illinois Central Railroad, 209 F. 480 (1911); Dunham v. Village of Canister (303 N.Y. 498) 104 N.E.2d 872 (1952); 57A Am. Jur. 2d Negligence § 107.

The 5th Circuit Court of Appeals has also adopted the above stated law in holding that "the law imposes an obligation upon everyone who attempts to do anything, even gratuitously, for another

not to injure him by the negligent performance of that which he has undertaken." *United States v. Lawtaer*, 219 F.2d 559, 562 (5th Cir.1955). *See also* 38 Am. Jur. *Negligence* § 17. The duty to provide proper care and attention is fully performed by taking the injured person to a competent physician, hospital or infirmary. *David*, 122 So.2d at 693. *See also* 57A Am. Jur. 2d *Negligence* § 106; *Gates v. Chesapeake & O. Ry. Co.*, 185 Ky. 24, 213 S.W. 564 (1919).

Furthermore, deposition testimony of the parties reveals that Holleman voluntarily undertook the duty to render aid to Ladner and failed to exercise reasonable care, leaving Ladner in a worse position than when he took charge of her. During his deposition, Holleman admitted that he voluntarily rendered aid to Ladner in his application of Neosporin to her abrasions and "she started developing problems." (R. at 277); (R.E. at 130). Upon Ladner expressing concern to Holleman that she was having a reaction as a result of Holleman's application of Neosporin, Holleman admittedly provided assistance to Ladner and testified as follows:

A. I got up and looked for some Benadryl twice during that period, once in my bedroom bathroom and once in the kitchen. I couldn't find any

... I left and went to the drugstore, bought some Benadryl. I came back, got a glass of water, opened the package, gave her her Benadryl. She sat up, put the Benadryl in her mouth, and drank the water.

And I said, well, we need to get this off of you, speaking of the Neosporin, if that's what's causing the problem. And I went to my bedroom bathroom, master bath and turned on the water to let it heat up. I was going to bring a wet but warm washcloth back.

While that was heating up, I hollered out, Becky, can you come in here? I heard something. I don't know what it was, but it caused me to go out and look. And she was laying a few feet from where she had been laying

(R. at 281-82); (R.E. at 131-32).

Holleman admitted that after he heard something and went to look, Ladner told him that she got up and fell. (R. at 290-91); (R.E. at 134-35). Holleman further acknowledged that Ladner had

fallen, and stated "it was apparent that that's what happened because she was three or four feet from where she had been laying when I last saw her where she had been sitting." (R. at 291); (R.E. at 135).

Additionally, Holleman testified that he was aware that Ladner's sense of smell and/or taste had been affected "during the course of days that followed." (R. at 295); (R.E. at 136). Holleman further acknowledged responsibility for the accident and resulting injuries.

- Q. Tell me about whose idea - or who initiated the claim with your homeowners insurance.
- A. I mean, I don't know whether she initiated it or I did. I know at some point I told her that if she would get a statement together and the bills, I would submit them. She did, and I submitted them.

(R. at 297); (R.E. at 137).

Ladner testified as to Holleman's failure to use reasonable care after undertaking the duty of rendering aid by applying Neosporin to her abrasions:

- Q. But you felt the tingling immediately when he - Neosporin was put on. Is that what you're saying?
- A. Very - very quickly.

[omitted lines]

- Q. Okay. All right. And so you - your lips are tingling. They're feeling swollen. What happens next?
- A. I stated I - that there's something wrong. I was beginning to - to feel a little numb and my lips were tingly. My - I knew something was wrong, and I expressed to him: Something is wrong.
- Q. Okay. Did you feel the tingling anywhere other than your lips?
- A. I felt a little tingling in my fingertips.

[omitted lines]

Q. Okay. So it progressed from your lips to your fingertips, and then where did it progress to after that?

- A. My throat.
- Q. And what happened to your throat?
- A. It began closing. My - it was difficult - I could not swallow at -
- Q. What did you try to swallow?
- A. My own - my own spit.
- Q. Saliva?
- A. Yes. I mean, just to make a swallowing action. I could not swallow.
- Q. Oh, okay. Well, could you breathe?
- A. It was becoming labored. My breathing was becoming very shallow.

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