IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01932

REBECCA LADNER

APPELLANT

VS.

MICHAEL HOLLEMAN

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. A2401-08-00185

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

(ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

Edward J. Currie, Jr. (MSB Jeremy T. Hutto (MSB Jer

Jackson, Mississippi 39232 Telephone: (601) 969-1010 Facsimile: (601) 969-5120

Tim C. Holleman (MSB Boyce Holleman & Associates 1720 23rd Avenue Gulfport, Mississippi 39501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2010-CA-01932

REBECCA LADNER

APPELLANT

VS.

MICHAEL HOLLEMAN

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case is about minor scrapes that occurred in a minor bicycle accident. Holleman applied a common household antibacterial medicine, Neosporin, to Ladner's scrapes, as is done virtually every day in homes in Mississippi to children and adults alike without incident. Neither Ladner nor Holleman had any inkling that such a common act would bring this matter before this Honorable Court. Ladner claims, without any supporting medical proof whatsoever, that she had an allergic reaction to the Neosporin. Ladner then decided to lay down on Holleman's den floor. While Ladner was resting on the floor, Holleman rushed to the pharmacy to get Benadryl, commonly known to counter-act allergic reactions. Holleman gave the Benadryl to Ladner and she admits that it helped her purported allergic reaction. Approximately two hours later, Holleman asked Ladner if she could come to the bathroom to wash off the Neosporin. Holleman did not make Ladner get up, nor did Ladner refuse to get up. Ladner claims that she fell while trying to get up, but does not know how or why she fell two hours later after taking the Benadryl.

One must resort to sheer speculation as to the cause of her fall. Did she lose her balance; trip;

stumble; suffer a vasovagal syncope (fainting); faint after suddenly rising from the floor; was she dehydrated after a 12-mile bicycle ride in the heat of the summer? Approximately two hours passed from the time the Benadryl was taken, and even longer than this after the Neosporin was applied, until she fell. Ladner failed to offer any medical testimony or opinion as to the cause of her fall. Likewise, Ladner failed to offer any evidence, medical or otherwise, which sheds any light as to any causal connection between her alleged allergic reaction to the Neosporin and her fall. Instead, Ladner simply argues that Holleman should have called an ambulance. However, Ladner provides no medical evidence of any kind to explain what difference an Emergency Medical Technician would have made had an ambulance been called, or that an EMT would have done anything different than what Holleman did. Ladner offered no proof causally connecting an alleged failure to call for an ambulance with her fall. Therefore, any arguments as to duty, if any, are irrelevant because Ladner failed to prove the proximate cause of her fall. Ladner failed to prove that Holleman breached any duty even under her alternate theory of recovery based upon the Good Samaritan Statute, Miss. Code § 73-25-37. Ladner's argument that an allergic reaction caused her to fall is nothing more than a post hoc ergo propter hoc argument that is unsound as evidence or law and cannot serve as the basis for proximate causation.

The lower court correctly found that Ladner was a mere licensee while inside of Holleman's home and that Ladner failed to present any evidence that any of Holleman's actions were willful or wanton. Ladner argues that her claim is not a premises liability claim, but instead, a simple negligence claim arising from Holleman's purported unilateral application of Neosporin to her abrasions. Ladner's argument is without merit. The basis of Ladner's claim is that she fell and sustained injuries while in Holleman's home. Because Ladner has no proof what caused her to fall, her fall and purported injuries must be considered due to "conditions or activities" on Holleman's property. The lower court thus properly found that Ladner's claim is one of premises liability. See <u>Doe v. Jameson Inn. Inc.</u>, 56 So.3d 549, 553 (¶11) (Miss. 2011.)

Holleman respectfully requests this Court to affirm the lower court's grant of Holleman's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

ARGUMENT

I: PROXIMATE CAUSE MUST BE PROVED NO MATTER WHAT DUTY OF CARE IS APPLIED

Ladner argues that the lower court incorrectly applied a willful and wanton duty of care to her claim instead of the reasonable care-good faith standard applicable under the Good Samaritan Statute, Miss. Code §73-25-37. The lower court, however, correctly found that Ladner was a licensee at the time of her fall, and that there was no evidence that Holleman acted willfully or wantonly. Even if the lower court had applied the reasonable care standard under the Good Samaritan Statute, Ladner's claim still fails because there is no proof of what caused her to fall inside of Holleman's home, and there is no proof that Holleman violated any standard of care. No one knows, and there is no direct, circumstantial or opinion evidence on causation. In order to prevail on a negligence claim, a Plaintiff must prove by a preponderance of the evidence each element of negligence: duty, breach of duty, proximate causation and injury. *Schepens v. City of Long Beach*, 924 So.2d 620, 623 (¶9) (Miss.App. 2006); *citing K-Mart Corp. v. Hardy ex rel. Hardy*, 735 So.2d 975 (¶14) (Miss. 1999.) Thus, Ladner's failure to prove the proximate cause of her fall is dispositive of the present appeal.

Ladner speculates that "...due to the profound allergic reaction she experienced, she was unable to

The lower court did not specifically address proximate cause in its ruling, but that is of no event because Holleman presented several grounds in support of his Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to the Lower Court, including that Ladner failed to offer any evidence of what caused her to fall in Holleman's home. (T.R. at 72-75; 126-127; R.E. at 51-54; 60-61.) The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that a defendant on appeal is entitled to raise any alternative ground based upon the pleadings in the court below which would support the judgment on appeal, and if the judgment of dismissal was correct on any ground raised by the pleadings in the lower court, the same will be affirmed. See <u>Brocato v. Miss. Publishers Corp.</u>, 503 So.2d 241, 244 (Miss. 1987);(citing <u>Briggs v. Benjamin</u>, 467 So.2d 932, 934 (Miss. 1985); <u>Huffman v. Griffin</u>, 337 So.2d 715, 723 (Miss. 1976.))

stand on her own, which caused her to fall." (See Ladner's brief at page 4.) This statement is nothing more than a repeat of the allegation in paragraph 14 of Ladner's complaint (T.R. at 34; R.E. at 13.), and directly contradicts Ladner's own deposition testimony, quoted above, that she has no memory of even getting up nor what caused her to fall.

A Plaintiff who falls on premises in a negligence action must be able to show what caused him or her to fall in the first place. In *Rod v. Home Depot USA, Inc*²., 931 So.2d 692, 693 (¶2-6) (Miss.App. 2006), Rod slipped in a Home Depot in Gulfport. Rod brought suit against Home Depot alleging that Home Depot was negligent. During her deposition, however, Rod "...admitted that she did not know what caused her to slip and/or trip." *Id.* at (¶3). The trial court granted summary judgment to Home Depot, which was appealed by Rod.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the summary judgment granted to Home Depot, holding that "Rod repeatedly stated during her deposition that she could not remember what caused her to fall." "Thus, Rod offered no proof that her injury was the result of an affirmative act of negligence by Home Depot..." <u>Id.</u> at (¶13.) The Court also agreed with the trial court's determination that Rod's "speculation as to what caused the accident [could] not supply the factual support necessary to show that the [Rod] would be able to meet her evidentiary burden at trial." <u>Id.</u> at (¶14.)

Home Depot is directly on point. Because Ladner does not know how or why she fell, one is left to only speculate as to what may have caused her to fall. Was it simply a case of unexplained syncope? Did she trip and stumble? Did she lose her balance while trying to stand up? Did the blood rush from her head upon rising from the floor? Was she dehydrated from a 12-mile bicycle ride in the heat of the summer? Was there some other medical condition unrelated to any alleged allergic reaction? One can only speculate.

²The Plaintiff in Rod v. Home Depot was an invitee, but Ladner was undisputedly a licensee while she was inside of Holleman's home. See page 18 of Ladner's Appellate Brief.

Ladner does not know, and has never known, what caused her to fall. Ladner presented no medical testimony that she even had an allergic reaction or that, if she did, it would somehow have affected her over two hours later. Because the record is devoid of supporting evidence, the assertion in Ladner's brief that an allergic reaction caused her to fall is insufficient to survive summary judgment. "When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported as provided in this rule, an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." M.R.C.P. 56(e). Ladner has failed to prove that any alleged affirmative action or omission of Holleman, or that any condition in his home, caused her to fall. The lower court's ruling should be affirmed.

II. LADNER MUST STILL PROVE PROXIMATE CAUSE UNDER THE GOOD SAMARITAN STATUTE, MISS. CODE § 73-25-37, AND EVEN IF THE REASONABLE CARE-BAD FAITH STANDARD IS APPLIED, LADNER FAILED TO PROVE THAT HOLLEMAN BREACHED ANY DUTY

The lower court properly determined that Ladner's fall inside of Holleman's home is a premises liability claim. Ladner urges that the lower court incorrectly applied the duty owed to a licensee and that the lower court should have applied a reasonable care standard as provided in Mississippi's Good Samaritan Statute codified at Miss. Code § 73-25-37³. In support of this argument, Ladner's brief focuses on conduct that occurred two hours or more *before* her fall, and Ladner's purported allergic reaction from a common household antibiotic, Neosporin. However, Ladner's claimed injures and damages undisputedly arise solely from her fall. There is no medical or other expert testimony that any purported allergic reaction she may have experienced more than two hours earlier from the application of the Neosporin proximately caused her fall. Thus, Ladner's discussion of Holleman's alleged actions and/or omissions prior to her fall are

³To the contrary, the Good Samaritan Statute does not establish a simple reasonable care standard as discussed *infra*, it employs a reasonable care plus bad faith standard.

immaterial. Therefore, even for the sake of argument should this Court determine that the reasonable care standard set forth in the Good Samaritan Statute applies instead of the willful and wanton standard applicable to a licensee, Ladner's claim still fails for lack of proximate cause. Furthermore, Ladner has not presented any evidence that Holleman's alleged actions breached any duty of care with regard to the fall, whether analyzed under a willful and wanton or the standard set forth in the Good Samaritan Statute.

Ladner cites <u>Dyche v. Vicksburg S. & P. R. Co.</u>, 79 Miss. 361 (1901), <u>Long v. Patterson</u>, 22 So.2d 490, 492 (Miss. 1945), and authority from jurisdictions outside Mississippi for the general proposition that "[o]ne who undertakes to care for an ill or injured person is bound to use reasonable or ordinary care." (See page nine (9) of Ladner's Appellate Brief.) This proposition goes only to the applicable standard of care, and it is not the standard of care set forth in the Good Samaritan Statute. Proximate cause still must be proved. Even so, Ladner's reliance on these authorities under the facts of her case are misplaced.

Dyche is inapplicable because it dealt with duties in relation to a common carrier. Mississippi law holds that a common carrier owes the highest degree of care to its passengers. See <u>Boyd Tunica</u>, Inc. v. <u>Premier Transp. Services</u>, Inc., 30 So.3d 1242, 1251 (¶24) (Miss.App.2010). The case <u>sub judice</u> involves no such situation⁴. <u>Long v. Patterson</u>, 22 So.2d 490, 492 (Miss. 1945) is also inapplicable to the case at bar. Long arose from a tractor trailer collision in which Patterson was killed. Patterson was driving a tractor at night with no lights and had a fourteen year old minor, Jones, riding on the fender keeping watch for traffic approaching from the rear. A cattle truck driven by Martin collided with the rear of Patterson's tractor and he was killed. The issue in Long was whether there is a duty for any person to warn another of an approaching or impending danger. Ladner's case is not a failure to warn case.

Ladner also cites a Louisiana Court of Appeals case styled <u>David v. Southern Farm Bureau Casualty</u>.

⁴Ladner does not dispute that she was a licensee while she was in Holleman's home. (See page 18 of Ladner's Appellate Brief.)

<u>Ins.</u>, 122 So.2d 691, 693 (La.Ct.App. 1960) to argue that Holleman owed a duty of reasonable care once he undertook to render aid to Ladner. *David*, relying upon 65 C.J.S. *Negligence* § 58 and Restatement (Second) of Torts § 324, held, in part, that one who undertakes to render aid to another is subject to liability to the other *for bodily harm caused to him by aid*. <u>Id</u>. at 694. (emphasis added.) First, *David* and the *C.J.S.* and *Restatement* provisions cited in *David*, do not support Ladner's argument because Ladner cannot prove than any "aid" provided to Ladner by Holleman caused her to fall. Second, *David* is inapplicable in any event due to enactment of the Good Samaritan Statute, which adopts an entirely different standard of reasonable care and requires a showing of bad faith.

Ladner, without any evidentiary support opines, "The duty to provide proper care and attention is fully performed by taking the injured person to a competent physician, hospital, or infirmary." *David*, 122 So. 2d at 693. Notwithstanding the fact that no such duty is required in our Good Samaritan Statute, the record fails to demonstrate that even this unsupported argument is proximately related to her fall. It contradicts her own actions following her fall in Holleman's home. Ladner admitted in her deposition that she never called an ambulance for herself; that she drove past Gulfport Urgent Care Clinic on her way home from Holleman's home but did not stop; and she never went to an emergency room after leaving Holleman's home. Ladner testified:

- Q: And is it true that you would have passed by Gulfport Memorial Urgent Care center on your way home?
- A: If - I would have, yes.
- Q: Okay. Did you stop there?
- A: No.

[Omitted Lines]

Q: Before you walked to your car, did you go to his phone and call an ambulance?

A: No.

Q: Did you ever attempt to call an ambulance yourself?

A: No.

Q: The entire time you were in his house.

A: No.

[Omitted Lines]

Q: All right. And did you drive yourself to the hospital that day?

A: No.

Q: Did you ever drive yourself to the hospital after June 12, 2005?

A: To the doctor.

Q: I'm talking about to the emergency room of the hospital.

A: No.

(See T.R. at 193-194; R.E. at 127-128.)

Mississippi's Good Samaritan Statute provides in relevant part, "...No...person who, in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable care, renders emergency care to any injured person at the scene of an emergency...shall be liable for any civil damages to the injured person as a result of any acts committed in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable care or omissions in good faith and in the exercise of reasonable care..." Miss. Code § 73-25-37 (emphasis added). Ladner's reliance on the Good Samaritan Statute fails in several key aspects. The Good Samaritan Statute predicates any cause of action upon two elements: lack of good faith and reasonable care. Ladner offers no proof that Holleman failed to act reasonably, but more importantly, that he acted in bad faith. In Limbert v. Mississippi University for Women Alumnae Ass'n, Inc., 998 So.2d 993, 998 (¶10) (Miss. 2009), this Court held:

Bad faith has been defined by this Court as requiring "a showing of more than bad

faith or negligence; rather, "bad faith" implies some conscious wrongdoing "because of dishonest purpose or moral obliquity." <u>Id.</u>; citing <u>Univ. of S. Miss. v. Williams</u>, 891 So.2d 160, 170-71 (Miss. 2004)(quoting <u>Bailey v. Bailey</u>, 724 So.2d 335, 338 (Miss. 1998.))

Ladner wholly fails to offer any proof that Holleman consciously committed a wrongful act because of any "dishonest purpose or moral obliquity." While Ladner fails to describe exactly when the "scene of an emergency" was present, Holleman presumes that Ladner is referring to her purported allergic reaction to the Neosporin. According to Ladner, after she began experiencing the allergic reaction, she laid on the floor. Holleman left and shortly returned with Benadryl. See page 13 of Ladner's brief. Shortly after Holleman gave Ladner the tablet of Benadryl, Ladner began to feel better.

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